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Dear Nineveh Magazine Subscribers, Readers, and Supporters,

       The Editorial Staff at Nineveh Magazine strives to provide you with an 
interesting and enlightening reading experience in each issue. Our goal is 
to bring you articles pertaining to Assyrian culture, history, education, and 
current events around the world. 
	
       We welcome you to submit your contributions for review to our magazi-
ne.  Perhaps you would like to write about a historical Assyrian figure in your 
family, or to share a long loved Assyrian recipe or some other interesting 
topic related to Assyrians, we welcome your contributions. 

       Please send your articles for review to editor@assyrianfoundation.org. 
We look forward to hearing from you!

Sincerely,
Dr. Ninwe Maraha
Dr. Elizabeth Mickaily-Huber
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Meet the AFA Board

   Sargon Shabbas is the president of the Assyrian Foundation of America (AFA). He was born 
in Baghdad, Iraq at the Kamp AlKailani, also known as the Armenian Camp. He grew up in 
Habanniya and later lived in Baghdad. Sargon attended St Joseph Latin Primary School, gradua-
ted from the Jesuit Baghdad College high school, and obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration from Al Hikma University. In 1970, he immigrated to the U.S. where he obtained 
an MBA from Armstrong University. Since 1991, he is CFO of the Ted Jacob Engineering Group in 
Oakland, California. Sargon has been married to Jermaine (Yonan) Shabbas since 1974. They have 
two children, Atur and Nineveh Shabbas, as well as  two adorable grandchildren Amarissa and 
Matthew.

     Sargon joined the AFA in 1973 and has held various positions within the board since that time, 
as well as the function of President from 1985 to 1988. Moreover, he joined the Assyrian Aid Soci-
ety of America in 1991 to help our Assyrian brothers and sisters back home and has acted as trea-
surer beginning in 1992. It has always been his goal to help his fellow Assyrians, especially those 
back in the homeland. He has visited northern Iraq many times to join Akitu festivals and to visit 
our Assyrian schools and children. To continue his efforts to help Assyrians in need, wherever 
they may be, Sargon has valiantly taken on the position of President of the AFA.

     Annie Elias is honored to serve on the board of the AFA, where her dad, Joel Elias, served 
for decades.  Annie is a playwright and director who specializes in the creation of documentary 
theater--plays based on interviews. Her acclaimed play “Tenderloin,” composed from interviews 
of residents from the SF neighborhood, premiered in 2012 at The Cutting Ball Theater, and was 
remounted in 2019. Since graduating from Mills College, Annie has received numerous grants 
and awards, including a Thomas J. Watson Fellowship and a grant from the Ensemble Studio 
Theatre/Alfred P. Sloan Foundation Science and Technology Project for her original theatrical 
adaptation of the novel Einstein’s Dreams. Annie is an associate artist at Phantom Theater in Ver-
mont where many of her plays have been performed. She serves as the Chair of the Performing 
Arts Department at Marin Academy where she has taught for twenty years.

     While she grew up with her dad’s Assyrian influence, it was only after he died that she got in-
volved with the Assyrian Foundation, through a desire to stay connected to that part of her family 
heritage. Annie has co-written an article for a recent issue of Nineveh Magazine and hopes to 
support this very important journal in the future by contributing interviews and finding worthy 
authors and subjects to submit to the magazine.  In addition, Annie is collaborating with Dr. Ruth 
Kambar on a project, called “Assyrian Americans in Motion,” researching a 1937 film of Assyrian 
Americans that Annie and her siblings found among her dad’s belongings when he died.  The 
amazing discovery, along with Annie and Ruth’s research, will appear soon as an exhibit on the 
Assyrian Studies Association website.  

     Annie appreciates the great opportunity to help support and raise awareness of Assyrians 
through the many good works of the AFA. 

Annie Elias - AFA Vice-President

     Sargon was born in Baghdad Iraq in 1947. He graduates from the American Jesuit University 
in Baghdad in 1969 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering.  Thereafter he wor-
ked in Iraq, Kuwait, and in the USA after immigrating in 1981.  Sargon worked for many years 
at Bechtel Corporation as a Civil Construction Engineer and has been a Licensed Building 
Contractor in California since 1987.

     Sargon is married to Sonia Warda and has two children Tara and Rami. He also has 3 hand-
some grandsons who are the sons of his daughter Tara. Currently, Sargon lives in Milbrae, CA.

     Sargon has been a member of the AFA since 1982. At present, he is serving his second term 
as Treasurer. Moreover, because of his long and vast experience in construction, he assists the 
Building Chairman Daniel DeKelaita whenever needed.

Sargon Warda, - AFA Treasurer

     Daniel DeKelaita has been a member of the Assyrian Foundation of America (AFA) for over 
35 years. It is thanks to him that the AFA was able to purchase a property in Pacifica, Califor-
nia that has been a steady source of income to the AFA, helping to fund a variety of projects 
mentioned in Nineveh Magazine over the years. These projects have always been charitable in 
nature, serving to benefit Assyrian culture, language, education and welfare, as has been the 
ultimate goal of the AFA since its inception.

     Daniel was born on November 9, 1936 in Mosul, Iraq. When he was one year old, Daniel’s 
family moved to Habbaniyah where he spent his childhood. He came to the United States in 
September of 1956 where he lived with relatives in San Francisco. In early 1960, Daniel served 
our country as a soldier in the United States Army. He began his service in Texas, later atta-
ching to the Second Armored Cavalry Regiment in Germany where he served for 18 months 
and received an honorable discharge in 1962. After returning to the States from his service in 
Germany, Daniel obtained a Bachelor’s and Master’s degree in Math and Physics from San 
Francisco State University. 

     Over the years, Daniel held many different jobs, working as a busboy at the Fairmont Hotel 
in San Francisco, a butcher in a meat company, a taxi driver, as well as a math, physics and 
chemistry teacher at a Justin-Siena Lasallian Catholic High School in Napa. For a time, he also 
worked at Stanislaus State University with the head of the Physics department at the time, who 
was also Assyrian, Professor Vladimir Tuman.  Together, they worked on the “Earth Pulsation” 
project funded by the US Navy. 

     Daniel met his lovely wife Ineke Brom in 1965 on the campus of the University of California 
at Berkeley where he was studying in the department of Physics.  Daniel and Ineke are blessed 
with three daughters Ingrid, Christina and Daniella, all raised in the city of San Francisco. Da-
niel and Ineke are also the proud grandparents of Johanna, Sierra, Daniel and Kole.

     Daniel opened his own upholstery business in 1976 and also worked as a real estate agent. It 
is thanks to his real estate skills that he was able to help the AFA purchase a mixed-use buil-
ding in Pacifica. Daniel searched for many years until he found the perfect investment building 
for the AFA.  Over the past 11 years, Daniel and his wife Ineke have graciously donated signifi-
cant amounts of time and energy on maintaining the building that would finance multiple 
projects for the AFA.

Daniel DeKelaita, - AFA Building Chairman

Sargon Shabbas, - AFA President
    Jackline Yelda, MBA, is an accomplished professional in the beauty and fashion industry with 
over 20 years of experience in supply chain and product development. She is currently a Senior 
Project Manager at Forma Brands, an international cutting edge cosmetics and skincare company. 
While working full time in her professional field, Jackline also taught business classes at the 
Fashion Institute of Design & Merchandising in San Francisco, where she mentored students and 
helped them enter in the fashion industry and flourish in their careers.

     Jackline served as the President of the Assyrian Foundation of America (“AFA”) for two terms, 
contributing several key legacies during her seven years at the helm:
• �Championed the launching of the Assyrian Studies Association (“ASA”), an organization that 

focuses on promoting Assyrian history, language, culture and heritage within the academic 
community worldwide.

• �Instrumental in assuring that Assyrians were represented on a plaque in front of the Joseph 
Strauss statue at the Golden Gate Bridge in San Francisco, one of the most visited tourist spots 
in the world. The plaque is written in both English and Assyrian and mentions the AFA on it.

• �Lobbied to include the word “welcome” in the Assyrian language on the steps of the Golden 
Gate Bridge, where many world languages are represented to greet visitors to this iconic San 
Francisco landmark.

     Jackline is passionate about promoting Assyrian history and heritage in the academic world and 
beyond. She is adventurous and a world traveler. Among her many adventures, Jackline summited 
Mt. Kilimanjaro (Tanzania), trekked through the Himalayas (Bhutan) and the Inca Trail to Machu 
Picchu (Peru). Jackline’s motto in life is “always do the right thing, even if it is harder to do”.

Jackie Yelda-AFA Secretary
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Meet the AFA Board

     Chris was born and raised in Modesto, CA where her parents were members of an Assyrian-Ameri-
can Club, formed by a group of Assyrian women, “The Femmes Club.” Her mother’s family was from 
Urmia, Iran, immigrating first to Chicago, then to Modesto after her father passed away. Her father’s 
parents had immigrated from northern Italy & settled in the farming area of Point Arena, CA. Chris 
received her LVN in Nursing from Modesto Junior College in 1967 and enjoyed working in that career 
for many years.      
     Prior to being introduced to the AFA, she married Victor Hamzaeff in 1999 and moved to Sonoma, 
CA. Victor took Chris to AFA business meetings and encouraged her to become an active member. 
Once in Sonoma, she worked with her husband Victor who was broker and owner of his own real estate 
company. Thereafter, Victor suggested that Chris study for a real estate license, so that they could work 
together as a team.  It was a wonderful and interesting career.  Following Victor’s passing in 2013, Chris 
returned to nursing, part time while also actively working in real estate, with another broker. She is now 
retired from professional life but enjoyed her various work experiences.     
     As a hobby, she has continued to maintain their boutique vineyard that was established in 1999. The 
Nineveh label graces the bottles of Merlot & Sauvignon Blanc, along with the history of wine in Assyria 
on the back of the label.     
     Soon after joining the AFA, Chris began assisting honorary, forever supportive and very social, past 
chairwoman, Mrs. Flora Kingsbury. Even now, as the Chairwoman of the Social Committee, Chris stays 
in contact with Flora and appreciates her advice and experience. Together, they hope and look forward 
to greeting AFA members for events toward the end of this year.     
     Chris realizes that being a board member of the AFA is an important responsibility. Her goal is to
ensure that members are honored through meetings and other events. She appreciates reading Nineveh 
Magazine because “it helps to keep us informed and reminds us of our wonderful and unique heritage.”

Chris Hamzaeff, - AFA Social Committee Chairwoman

     Dr. Chaharbakhshi obtained his doctorate in Psychology in Organization Development  from 
Alliant International University in Fresno, CA. His thesis topic was “An Intervention Designed for the 
Career Development of Assyrian Refugees and Immigrants to the United States.” Moreover, he has a 
Master of Science degree in Technology Management from Golden Gate University in San Francisco, 
as well as a B.S. in Business and Operation Management and Computer Information Systems from 
California State University, Stanislaus.     
     Jack is an accomplished professional in a variety of industries including: Manufacturing, Telecom-
munications, Business Analysis, Operation and Project Management, Business Consulting, Executive 
and Personal Coaching, Career Development, and Education. Jack has been with AT&T for over 21 
years, working as an engineer and project manager in multiple telecom technology programs and 
projects.  He worked as Manufacturing Operation Manager for over 11 years at companies like Procter 
& Gamble, overseeing manufacturing production, quality engineering and production control. Furt-
hermore, Jack has been an adjunct professor at the NPU Business School in the Bay Area, teaching 
various MBA courses (pre-Covid19).     
     Jack served for 20 consecutive years in United States Navy, both as active duty and selected reserve, 
with 5 tours of duty abroad, in Europe, the Middle East, and the Far East. He held many leadership 
roles during his service with the Department of Defense, the Joint Armed Forces, and the US Navy. 
Jack officially retired from service in 2008.     
     He spent several years as a volunteer missionary with Christian organizations, such as the Campus 
Crusade for Christ and Navigators, in the United States and abroad, providing humanitarian aid and 
evangelizing. Jack has been instrumental in leading the Jesus Film Project translation into the Assyrian 
language, using it as an evangelistic tool to spread the Gospel and to distribute the movie to the global 
Assyrian community.      
     He is also currently serving as the Education and Culture Chairperson for the Assyrian Foundation 
of America. Previously, he was an executive board member of the Assyrian American Association of 
San Jose for two years. Jack’s hobbies include traveling, reading, listening to music, boating, and mo-
torcycle riding.  His favorite past time is coaching young adults to help them achieve their dreams.

Dr. Jack Chaharbakhshi - AFA Education and Culture Chairman
     Ramin was born in Tehran, Iran. He attended two years of high school at Shooshan Assyrian 
School there. After immigrating to the US, he completed high school in Chicago where he lived 
with his aunt and uncle. His family later moved to California where he attended San Jose State 
University, graduating with a B.S. in Chemical Engineering. He has worked in the chemical 
industry for over two decades.

     His involvement in Assyrian organizations began with the youth group of the Assyrian 
American Association of San Jose, where he later served on the education and fundraising 
committees. Ramin has also been active in the Assyrian Aid Society of America and served on 
the board of directors for about a decade. As a long time member of the Assyrian Foundation 
of America, he served as the treasurer in 2002. Presently, Ramin is serving on the board of the 
Assyrian Foundation in charge of membership, and is hopeful that we can get members whose 
memberships have lapsed to become current on their dues.

Ramin Daniels, - AFA Membership Chairman

Flora Ashouri Kingsbury, - AFA Social Committee Co-Chairwoman

Raman Adam - AFA Welfare Officer

     Flora was born to Babajan and Shooshan Ashouri in the city of Brougard, Iran. From six months 
to seven years of age, Flora lived in the village of Mushawa, later moving to Urmia. 

     Flora was inspired to take on a career in nursing thanks to witnessing the wonderful care that 
an Assyrian nurse gave to her ailing brother Frederick. Thus, following high school, Flora went to 
Nursing School in Abadan, sponsored by the oil company for which her father worked. During 
her seven years there, she completed her training and worked in the medical and surgical units, 
including the operating room and eventually becoming a charge nurse. In 1965, Flora immigrated to 
California. After completing coursework at the University of California, Berkeley, Flora received her 
California Nursing License and worked at the Civic Center Hospital in Oakland.

     After marrying Bob Kingsbury in 1969, Flora and her family spent a few years living in Saudi 
Arabia where Flora worked at an eye clinic in Dhahran and taught first aid classes in Ras Tanura. 
Upon the family’s return to California in 1979, Flora began working at Alta Bates Hospital in Berkeley. 
During a fateful visit to the Church of the East in San Francisco in 1980, Flora met Julius Shabbas, 
late President of the AFA, who encouraged her to take part. Thereafter, Flora and her family became 
active members of the foundation. Flora became the Social Chairwoman under President George 
Bet-Shlemon in 1980, helping to organize many events and parties at the old AFA building in Berkeley.

     Over the years, Flora has worked on the AFA Board under 13 different Presidents, devoting 33 
years of her life to the service of AFA. She brought her special flare to all events - creating collages, 
timelines, appreciation events, and extravagant centerpieces. While he was alive, Flora’s husband 
Bob was her constant companion at these events, often working at the check in table.

     Raman Adam came to the United States in 1970 from Kirkuk, Iraq. He began working at the
tender age of 14 in his father’s grocery story in San Mateo.  Raman has held various occupations 
since then.  In his youth, he worked in retail, transitioned to a job in a cabling company, followed by 
work as a warehouse supervisor for several companies. As a jack of many trades, Raman has also 
worked in pipe fitting, handywork and maintenance, as well as owned his own courier business for 
numerous years. Over the years, Raman has resided mainly in Northern California, with the excep-
tion of 6 years during which he lived in North Carolina with his family. Raman has one son, 
a successful musician/singer-songwriter, who currently lives in North Carolina.

     Raman has been a member of the AFA for many years and  is passionate about serving his fellow 
Assyrians. In the past, he served one term as Vice-President of the AFA. He is proud to be part of the 
team because he believes in the goal of helping needy and struggling Assyrians around the world. 
Raman is pleased to serve as the AFA Welfare Officer who helps to determine how and when funds 
are distributed to Assyrians in need.
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While contemporary 
Assyrians can be forgiv-
en for not recognizing 
the Byronic allusion to 
ancient Assyria in this 
sensationalistic syndicated 
headline 1 announcing 
Surma d’Mar Shimun’s 
impending arrival in the 
United States in early 

1926 (using a photo from 1919), the American press of the 
twenties—preoccupied with woman’s suffrage and all things 
Eastern and exotic—can be excused for exaggerating Surma’s 
official political status; not to mention that of the phantasmal 
Assyrian “nation”/country itself.  At the time this rehashed 
headline was reprinted, Surma Khanum (Lady Surma), as she 
was respectfully regarded, was in London advocating for an 
Assyrian homeland, uncertain if she would be continuing on 
to the United States.  The Archbishop of Canterbury, Randall 
Davidson, a fervid advocate of the Assyrians, had formulated 
an inter-denominational committee to raise funds for Assyrian 
relief and Surma Khanum—“Princess,” “Ambassadress,” 
“President”—was asked to lead the publicity tour.  Over seven 
long months, she would visit over fifty cities in sixteen states 
across the country (including three Canadian cities), present-
ing the Assyrian plight to diverse groups of Americans, many 
of whom, to quote a colorful Irish reporter of the day, “. . . had 
thought the country and its people as extinct as the brontosaurus 
and the dodo, as dead as Nineveh and Jonah and his whale . . .”.2   
Today’s Assyrians know the empty-handed results of such 
attempts to secure a homeland in the Middle-East, but few 
are aware of Surma Khanum’s significant role in these valiant 
but doomed efforts.  This series of three articles fills in some 
of these missing gaps by focusing on the 1925-6 period during 
which the future of the Assyrian nation in Mesopotamia still 
hung in the balance.  

Let us then travel back to the beginning of 1925.  King Fais-
al of Iraq is meeting with representatives of the League of 
Nations Frontier Commission (sent in accordance with the 

Treaty of Lausanne) in Baghdad. They are on a research 
mission to gather data and information about the disputed 
border region with Turkey, north of Mosul (Surma would 
also meet with them in early February).  The Assyrian levies 
are engaged in sporadic skirmishes with Sheikh Mahmoud’s 
Kurdish warriors in the Suleimania region (east of Kirkuk) 
on behalf of the British and Iraq government. Church of the 
East Metropolitan (of India), Mar Timotheus, at the behest of 
Mar Shimun, is in the United States presenting the needs of 
the Church (primarily, for theological schools and a printing 
press), to the Episcopal representatives there.  The Patriarch, 
seventeen-year old Mar Eshai Shimun XXIII, whose edu-
cational course had been agreed upon between Mar Timo-
theus and the Archbishop of Canterbury, is passing through 
Jerusalem on his way to England to attend his first year of 
college.  And in Mosul, his aunt Surma Khanum is writing to 
the British High Commissioner, Sir Henry Dobbs, to remind 
him of his pledges of two years prior that Assyrian demands 
for autonomy would have his government’s “. . . closest atten-
tion.” She diplomatically relays the results of a recent meeting 
of Assyrian maliks (chiefs/leaders): “. . . They all agree in one 
accord, imploring the British government to emigrate them to 
one of their colonies which climate agrees with, so that the small 
remnant may live in peace, and work to keep their existence. At the 
same time, not at all ungrateful for all favours and help that Great 
Britain has bestowed most generously to the Assyrians in the time 
of their greatest need and sufferings.” 3 

Up to this point Dobbs and the Colonial Office had been 
unsuccessful in locating a suitable country from their long, 
but ever-shrinking menu of colonial protectorates and do-
minions, let alone one that was willing to admit war refugees.  
The head of the Colonial Office in London, Secretary of State 
Leo S. Amery, personally sympathized with Surma and the 
Assyrian’s desires, but his primary job was to ensure that 
Mosul, “. . . the most fertile and, since the subsequent oil discov-
eries, the richest part of the whole country,” remain within the 
newly formed state of Iraq, and thus, under British control.  
The sine qua non, then, of any British help for the Assyrians 
would depend upon, “. . . The rapid improvement and training of 

the Iraq Army in a short time to take the principal part in the main-
tenance of internal security and the control of the Iraq frontiers,” 
with the not inconsequential result of reducing the British 
government’s burdensome yearly expense of some three-mil-
lion pounds in administering Mesopotamia. 4 

On the day she posted her letter to Dobbs in late March, Leo 
Amery and Sir Samuel Hoare (Sec. of State for Air) arrived for a 
personal inspection of the “Mosul muddle,” as the British press 
was calling it.  They met with Surma who expressed her fears 
that, without British support, the Iraqi Government wouldn’t 
hesitate to scatter the Assyrians throughout villages in the 
Mosul vilayet.  “If this plan is carried out I can only regard it as the 
final burial of our people,” she told them.5  There were really only 
two acceptable options:  Emigration out of Iraq, or a scheme for 
colonization supported and protected by the British.

Under no delusions as to British restraints and priorities, 
Surma Khanum was determined to lobby for a seat at the table 
of the decision-makers in Geneva; whether it be herself or a 
trustworthy representative.6   As she confided to Mrs. Edith 
Davidson, the Archbishop’s wife,  “. . . If there is not somebody to 
put the Assyrian cause strongly in the League, I fear that, having 
so big and important things to settle, our poor cause will be forgot-
ten, or more likely will be soaked in Mosul oil.” 7  Fresh upon their 
return to London, Amery and Hoare met with the Archbishop 
and expressed their desire to do something for the Assyrians.  
Archbishop Davidson (no doubt, after talking with Mrs. David-
son) followed up with Surma on May 29th to inform her how 
impressed Amery and Hoare had been with her “appreciation 
of the perplexities of the problem,” and asked if she was willing to 
go to Geneva to represent the Assyrian voice at the League’s 
impending Frontier Commission.  Before signing off, he pro-
vided encouraging updates about Mar Eshai who had recently 
accompanied him to Canterbury Cathedral for a large ceremo-
nial funeral service in honor of Viscount Milner, former Sec. of 
State for Colonies.  His Holiness, he added, was “getting on well” 
and “very popular” 8 at St. Augustine’s.   The cheerful prospect of 
visiting with Mar Shimun no doubt factored into her decision 
whether or not to leave Iraq for the West again.

When the anxiously awaited League report was publicly is-
sued on August 7th, 1925, Assyrian hopes of returning to their 
Hakkari homes were all but dashed.  The writers recommend-
ed the placement of the region north of the temporary border 
above Mosul known as “The Brussels Line,” firmly into the 
hands of Turkey, while the area south (i.e., the Mosul vilayet), 
and Iraq itself, would remain under British mandate for a 
theoretical twenty-five year transition period.  Formal discus-
sion and review of this report, which managed to satisfy none 
of the parties involved, was scheduled to take place at The 
League of Nations Enquiry Commission in Geneva beginning 
September 1st. 

Within days a red-wax sealed envelope labelled, “On His 
Majesty’s Service,” in bold black letters, magically appeared at 
Surma’s door: “Dear Lady Surma, . . .  Sir Samuel cabled me this 
morning that the Archbishop advises you to go to Geneva. I have 
provisionally arranged for a passage for you on the air mail leaving 
here on the 19th August . . .—Air Headquarters, British Forces in 
Iraq  (Baghdad).” 9   Packed and ready bright and early at the 
appointed day and time, Surma Khanum was at the R.A.F. 
airstrip at Hinaidi, Baghdad where she boarded a twin-engine 
Vickers Vernon for the twelve-hour flight to Cairo—“the only 
civilian allowed this privilege” according to a British official—
from where she was either flown or taken by boat to Marseille, 
France.  From there she boarded the train to Geneva.  En 
route, as the magnificent French-Swiss countryside passed 
through the window, she re-read the Archbishop’s benediction 
to her undertaking: “We pray God that your presence in Geneva 
may be of real use to the plans we hope for as regard the settlement 
of your people in Iraq. I am certain that it is wise that you should be 
available in Geneva for settling before the authorities the needs and 
possibilities of the Assyrians.” 10  

Arriving in Geneva on September 1st she was met by long-time 
friend Georges S. Reed and his wife.  Reed, an ex-missionary 
of the Archbishop’s Assyrian Mission (1905-1915), had seen 
her off in Basra, Iraq for her first trip to England in 1919. The 
Reeds drove Surma to the Hotel Russie, situated not far from 

Assyrian Princess 
Comes to the 
United States!

by Christopher R. Nelson, Mar Shimun Memorial Foundation

(Part 1 of 3)
Aquitania Southampton

Surma Passport 1925

Aquitania Manifest Mar 10, 1926
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the League Secretariat on the Quai du Mont-Blanc, facing 
Geneva harbor where the Rhone flows into Lac Leman. The 
salubrious autumn alpine air and vistas of snow-capped Mont 
Blanc reminded her of the Patriarchal See of Qudshanis. She 
and the Reeds somberly reflected on the ten extraordinarily 
painful years that had passed since she last saw her home. A 
period in which over a quarter-million Assyrians (between 
a third and half of the total population) had lost their lives 
in the Turkish organized genocide during the war. 11  Four 
of her brothers and many close relations had perished.  The 
survivors were now refugees wanting nothing more than to 
go home and rebuild their lives. These tragic losses weighed 
heavily and though she sensed the increasing impossibility 
of winning back their Hakkari homes, Surma Khanum wasn’t 
about to let the League representatives, or anyone else for that 
matter, forget the Assyrians. Within the first several days she 
requested personal meetings with three committee chairmen:  
Ariastide Briand (French Foreign Minister), Bo Osten Unden 
(Swedish Foreign Minister), and Edvard Benes (Czech Foreign 
Minister). Whether or not Briand or Unden found time in 
their busy schedules to talk informally with her or not is un-
known, but Edvard Benes of the Czech delegation promised 
his personal support for the “aspirations of the Assyro-Chaldean 
people and their rights” at the opportune occasion. 12 

Meanwhile, British delegate Leo Amery, was battling with 
Tewfik Rushdi Pasha of Turkey over borders and boundar-
ies.  Straight out of the gate, Tewfik charged the British with 
staging military demonstrations to exert influence over the 
council, while Amery exposed the Turks for violating the 
Mosul provisional boundary.  When pressed as to the well-be-
ing and security of Kurds and Assyrians on their side of the 
border, Tewfik refused to provide any assurance. In contrast, 
Amery promised protection for the Assyrians, so long as 
they were placed under Iraq’s sovereignty. He even made a 
last-ditch effort for an expansion of the Iraq border north of 
the Brussels Line that would include the Hakkari, or at least 
part of it.  Tewfik responded with cool indifference. Perhaps 
because at that very moment Turkish military forces were 
violently expelling some eight-thousand (Syriac Orthodox) 
Assyrians from the Goyan region, just north of the Line.13  

Shots had been exchanged between patrols of Iraq and 
Turkish military north-west of Zakho and news-headlines 
announcing imminent war flashed across the world. Sir Sam-
uel Hoare commented to the Colonial Office that the Turkish 
rationale for this timing and action could only be explained 
by a calculated attempt to create an unfavorable situation 
on the frontier so as to provoke a plebiscite, or popular vote, 
on the issue (an Arab majority populated the region). This 
latest aggression was therefore seen for what it was, a prelude 
to punitive action against the last of the Assyrian “rebels” 
remaining in Turkish territory.      

Before Surma Khanum was even scheduled to meet with 

League officials, the contentious dispute had to be handed off 
to the Hague for an advisory opinion regarding procedural 
issues raised by the Turks. Undeterred, Surma managed to se-
cure an audience with League officials at 10:30 am on Septem-
ber 22nd. Georges Reed and his wife escorted her along the 
Geneva waterfront to the League Secretariat. Though the dis-
cussion seems to have been undocumented, it’s safe to say she 
told them what she told the Women’s International League 
of London a month later: “We do not ask Great Britain to let us 
revenge ourselves on the Turks. We only ask to be assured of peace, 
and above all of security. It has always been the great wish of the 
Assyrians to be under British rule, and all they desire now is that 
they may be permitted to settle in the healthy, open country north 
of Mosul, where they can maintain their own language, religion, 

and schools, free from Turkish 
interference. Our people fought on the side of the Allies during the 
Great War, and we only ask in return that the little remnant now 
left of our nation may continue in peace and liberty.” 14  Reed 
testified to the powerful “. . . impression she made on the greats 
of this world gathered there,” adding that, “. . . she had the stature 
of a queen among them and Rabbi Dr. Browne would have been 
proud of her.” 15  

Surma Khanum’s mission in Geneva accomplished, she took a 
train to the French port-town of Calais and boarded the ferry 
for the Channel crossing to Dover, England on the 26th. Sur-
ma’s frank discussions with Amery and Hoare, her presence 
in Geneva, and her persistent appeals to Christian conscience 
inspired Archbishop Davidson to action. On September 28th, 
he called upon Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin, who pub-
licly promised his Government would not lose sight of “this 
important aspect of the problem.” 16 Another public appeal from 
the Archbishop followed a week later, and from this, a special 
Assyrian and Iraq Christians Committee was formed under 
the leadership of Sir Henry Lunn. Described by a Canadian 
reporter as a “visiting British knight, European tourist organiz-
er, and apostle of unity among churches and brotherhood among 
nations,” 17  Lunn, together with Amery, suggested bringing 
on board long-time Assyrian advocates like Lord Cecil, Dr. 
Wigram, Rev. Heazell, and of course, Surma Khanum herself 
(who was then staying as a guest of Canon Mason at Canter-
bury).  Out of this committee sprouted the idea of a fundrais-
ing tour in America, to be organized by their Episcopalian 
colleagues in New York. 

Within days, the Archbishop cabled Surma Khanum to offi-
cially request her presence in the United States. A second ca-
ble followed the next day from William Chauncey Emhardt, 
Field Director of the American Episcopal Church. Emhardt, 
whom Surma had met on his visit to Mosul in the summer of 
1924 to discuss potential Assyrian emigration to America, and 
Mar Shimun’s educational plans, also informed her that she’d 
soon be receiving correspondence between himself and Mar 
Timotheus regarding the latter’s claims that the Patriarchal 
Family had made him patriarchal “regent” (as opposed to “qa-

Mar Eshai Shimun XXIII, Church of the Nativity, Bethlehem, Jan, 1926Archbishop of Canterbury, 
Randall Davidson & Edith Davidson
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yoma,” or representative/plenipotentiary) in October of 1920. 
Quickly thereafter, a third telegram arrived, this one from the 
Assyrians in Chicago who felt slighted by Mar Timotheus’
suspension of two priests and ordination of another of his 
choosing. It read: “Kindly visit America. Your command will be 
honored by all parts. Church needs you for organization. Others 
fail.” 18 Her fundraising tour of America had suddenly taken 
on the added dimension of peace mission amongst her 
own people.

On the 21st of November, the Permanent Court of Internation-
al Justice at the Hague re-confirmed the League’s authority 
to make a definitive determination about the frontier issue 
between Turkey and Iraq, and that this decision would be 
made through majority voting process. The Turkish delegates 
stalled for time by refusing to vote, claiming to require unani-
mous approval from their National Assembly back in Angora 
first. They were over-ruled. Silence would be a no-vote, and so 
they would be bound by the League’s ruling.   

Surma Khanum wasn’t one to passively wait around for the 
League’s verdict on her countrymen’s fate, or for final confir-
mation of her trip to America. She had more meetings with 
the Archbishop and others during this time, attended the 
opening of Parliament by the King and Queen, and sat in on 
a debate in the House of Commons over the new Anglo-Iraq 
Treaty. 19 She held speaking engagements at several events 
arranged by Lunn’s Relief Committee that included church 
gatherings, clubs, schools, women’s groups, and even radio (on 
Wednesday, February 17th, at 7:40 pm, sandwiched between 
Beethoven and Chopin, Surma Khanum introduced thou-
sands of London listeners of the BBC to “Assyrian Chris-
tians”). 20  She also caught up with Mar Shimun at Canter-
bury, filling him in on all that had transpired, especially with 
regards to Mar Timotheus.   

As a new year was underway and snow drifted down on 
London, Surma received confirmation of her worst fears from 
her brother Rab Khaila Dawid (Commander in the Assyrian 
Levies, and father of Mar Eshai).  He related intelligence that 
the Iraqi Government was indeed making plans to scatter the 

Assyrians willy-nilly in villages across Iraq. She lamented in 
her diary: “Dear Lord, what will happen to these poor Assyrians 
among the politics of the world.” 21 After several long walks over 
the next couple of weeks, and much prayer in the evenings, 
she debated whether her presence back in Mosul or in Ameri-
ca would be more beneficial. Her people had failed to achieve 
autonomy through either military or diplomatic means. That 
left one untried option: capital. If enough money could be 
raised they might be able to purchase enough land from the 
Kurds in the North for a homeland. Lunn had made a public 
appeal for one-hundred thousand pounds (about half-a-mil-
lion dollars) with which to do this.  His Committee had so far 
managed to raise over twenty-thousand pounds (in no small 
part due to Surma’s efforts), which was helping the Goyan 
refugees in Zakho and others in Mosul. If this kind of money 
could be raised in war-depleted, downtrodden England then 
surely the prosperous bandwagon of America would be willing 
to contribute. Still, five-hundred thousand dollars seemed a tall 
order. She reminded herself that the Hakkari mountaineers had 
surmounted impossible odds against their very existence four-
times as long as the United States had been a country, and that 
hope alone was not a survival strategy. And then there was the 
troubling rift in Chicago . . .  She wrote to Dr. Emhardt in New 
York on January 29th agreeing to come to America.

As a prelude to her lectures in the U.S., she told a gathered 
crowd of influential personalities at London’s Mansion House 
on February 1st: “Alas, we have no homes, but there is much land 
in Iraq where we could settle ourselves if only the League of Nations 
would make up their mind that we have a right to some place to live. 
We are independent people and do not wish to live on alms all our 
lives. Idleness is bad for every nation. We are an ancient civilisation, 
and we do not want our nation to die. We want a means to live.” 22 

Anxious Assyrians in Mosul, after having digested the disap-
pointing League results issued in mid-December, had writ-
ten and signed another petition:  “. . . Our mind is not changed 
and our requests are the same [as the] first one which has been 
submitted to your Excellency, i.e. either our small lands under the 
British Mandate, be returned at any possible way, if not, we beg to 
emigrate us to any of the British Colonies [where] the climate and 

water would suit 
us, and [where] we 
would be relieved 

from our anxieties, miseries and dark 
future; because in Iraq we cannot live in any way. As our request is 
simple and we are a very small nation (or family), we trust that the 
British Government will take a kind action, and we shall be granted 
one of the two humble requests. We believe that our request will 
be heard and will receive a favourable reply.” 23 Surma received 
and translated this petition from Mosul, handing it over to 
the Archbishop for presentation to the British Government 
on the 28th. The following week, she returned to Canterbury 
with Dean George Bell to visit with Mar Shimun. She proudly 
watched him conduct Holy Communion at St. Augustine’s 
chapel alongside two English deacons, fondly recalling guiding 
him through his very first communions and church consecra-
tions in the Assyrian villages of Amadia five years earlier. Next 
morning, her passport arrived from the American Consul.  

Back in London, she attended communion at the Church of St. 
Philip where the Priest requested a prayer from the congrega-
tion for her safe and peaceful trip.  Sir Samuel Hoare had left 
a note for her at Lambeth: “I write to wish you every success in 
your journey to America. You can rely on Mr. Amery and myself to 
do everything in our power to ensure fair treatment for your peo-
ple.”24  On the 8th, with Mar Shimun in attendance, she talked 
over her travel plans one final time with the Archbishop, and 
Bishop Charles Gore recited a poem in her honor. A farewell 
luncheon was held for her at the National Liberal Club at 
Whitehall Place, hosted by Lunn’s Assyrians and Iraq Chris-
tians Committee the following afternoon.  

On the morning of the 10th she boarded the S.S. Aquitania in 
Southampton and at 1pm the clanging of a bell announced 
their departure. Surma Khanum stood on deck beside fellow 
passengers observing several steam-billowing tugs guide the 
majestic ship from the quay. Such unity of purpose, she knew, 
was the only way the divided denominations of her people 
would ever launch a nation of their own. Lines were slackened, 
tossed into the water and reeled in. Vibrations rippled across 
the deck as the giant propellers began churning below; black 
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coal smoke billowed out of the four red cylindrical smoke-
stacks. The “Ship Beautiful,” as she was affectionately known, 
slowly slipped away from England, then glided forth as a se-
ries of deep guttural horn blasts shouted independence from 
shore. The fluttering dove handkerchiefs and waving hands of 
the anonymous English men and women on the dock shrunk 
into the distance. “Princess, Ambassadress, President” Surma 
Khanum was on her way to America. 

(To Be Continued . . .)

Samuel Hoare
Leo S. Amery Lord Cecil Geneva 1925

Lady Surma, London, 1925
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The Genocide Chronicles

Yonatan Paul
Date of Interview: 4/12/’82

Yonatan (Jonathan) was 81 at the time he shared his 
experience.  He was one of the refugees who managed to 
migrate to USA in the early 20’s.  He had lived in Chi-
cago the greater part of his life.  In 1960 he married and 
made Turlock his permanent home.

I was born in the village of Degala, Urmia in 1901.  
My father was a carpenter.  He had been to America 
and back.  He had lived in Yonkers for seven years.  I 
was 13 when World War I started.  I remember every-
thing. When I was a child I always dreamt of going to 
America. I did not want to stay in Iran because I had 
seen so much meanness. On our farm we had a Mus-
lim caretaker who looked after it when pa was out of 
the country. He used to plough, irrigate, and harvest 
it. Once when I was thirsty I drank some water from 
a jug. The caretaker said I had desecrated the jug, 
and it had to be thrown away. So we had to pay for it. 
I asked my mother “We take baths, and we are clean, 
he never does. Why am I dirty?” She said “Son, this 
is how their religion is.” From that day on, I decided 
I would not live in a place like this.

When the war started the Russians had a contingent 
in Urmia.  As long as they were there we were safe.  
The local Turks did not dare to molest us. But in 1915 
when they retreated, then the Muslims descended 
upon our villages and pillaged them.  In our village 
many were killed.  But from my family no one was 
killed; only the house was stripped of all its furnish-
ings. We had a well-furnished home with Persian car-
pets and all.  We just saved our lives and ran to town. 
We had a Turkish landlord.  He gave us shelter until 
the Russians returned to Urmi.  But they retreated 
again in the summer of 1917. It then became neces-
sary to vacate the town.  We walked the distance to 
Hamadan and Kermanshah under very difficult cir-
cumstances.  I stayed without any food for more than 
three days. When we reached the British contingent 
they took us to Hamadan.  My father had died three 
months earlier.  I had a mother, a sister, and a broth-
er who was younger than I.  The Assyrian mountain-
eers and the plains men who were armed to protect 
us, were not very close.  The former were coura-
geous and they fell ahead instead of staying behind 
to protect the back of the procession. So wherever 
they reached, they pillaged the villages and when we 
got there, almost nothing was left to eat.  They only 
helped themselves.  When we reached Sain Qala, 
Agha Petros tried to convince the armed men to stay 
behind the line; but no one listened. “Each for his 
own” was the spirit.  As we reached Hamadan, I was 
walking in the bazaar when British soldiers appre-
hended me and said that I had to enlist in the army. 
I was 16 then.  They took a bunch of us to a village.  
It was very cold and we were without food or cloth-
ing. There were about 2000-3000 of us aged from 16-
25.  After a few weeks I deserted and ran away.  The 
British were not able to get provisions. They were 

giving us a kind of bread that looked like manure. 
It was inedible. During daytime-this was late Au-
gust-when it was sunny, it was warm.  But Hamadan 
is situated on the foothills of the Zagros Mountains. 
During the night the temperature dropped and it 
was very cold.  When they caught me it was daytime 
and I was in a light shirt. We were so cold and so 
hungry that whenever we made a fire, I used to take 
the warm rocks and press them on my chest at night. 
They drilled us every day.  One day two boys from 
my village and I held a meeting and the three of us 
decided to ask the guards who were highland Assyr-
ians, to let us go.  We told them we were hungry and 
wanted to get to a close-by vineyard and pick some 
grapes. We said we would re-
turn. The guard knew we were 
hungry.  He felt sorry for us and 
let us go.  I came to Hamadan.  
My mother had rented a room 
there. She would not let me 
out of her sight from then on. 
After a few weeks word came 
that whoever wanted to leave 
Hamadan, could go to Kerman-
shah, and the British would 
care for them.  Since we had 
spent all the money we had, 
we decided to go. Some stayed 
permanently in Hamadan.  
They received no relief; but 
there was an American Mis-
sion there that helped them. On the way the British 
were taking men of my age to the army camp. My 
mother heard and dressed me like a woman until we 
reached the Iraqi border.  There the British put the 
women in these big trucks called Lorries.  But the 
men had to walk up to the railroad. There we board-
ed freight trains until we got to Baqubah. 

Yonatan Paul, whose story we read above, was a very 
knowledgeable person with excellent memory.  He was 
in a supervisory position in the camps, and later in 
Assyrian organizations in the Diaspora.

Yonatan Paul: The British had a very good system. 
They divided us into sections; each consisting of 
1200-1300 families. There was an Armenian section, 

a highlander section, and a section for the Urmia 
people.  Ours was section 22. In every section there 
were 3-4 British enlisted men and one commis-
sioned officer in charge of the administration of that 
section.  They had an office there. After some time 
when General Austin was recalled and replaced by 
Colonel Owen [Cunliffe-Owen], the instructions 
were to reduce the cost of operation. This was in 1919. 
These officers had men like me working for them. I 
was the bellman and the interpreter.  I had learned 
a little English in Degala.  The British officers liked 
me because they saw that I was eager to learn. They 
taught me. They gave me newspapers and a dictio-
nary. Every week they had to write a report indicat-

ing demographical changes: 
arrivals, deaths, army recruits, 
etc. They sent it to the head-
quarters.  When the British 
were removed from adminis-
trative tasks, we replaced them. 
We stayed in Baquba until the 
British decided to move us to 
Mindan. We reached Baquba in 
August 1918 and left on March 
1920. If it was not for the British 
my family would have starved. 
People complained as if the 
British owed us something; but 
I had no ill feelings and obeyed 
what they said. As I was the in-
terpreter, sometimes I was put 

in a difficult position. The refugee men would com-
plain that they were put to work. The work was for 
10-15 men to push carts on the railroad track up to 
the headquarters, fill them up with provisions, bring 
them back to the camps, and divide them among the 
sections.  Now, that was free food, carried on rails; 
even that they did not want to do. They would hide 
away. So they faced stiff punishment. They were sent 
away for two weeks to carry dirt filled bags on their 
back.  Another problem: the tents were very large; 
there were 30-40 people living in each.  The British 
asked us to lift the edges every morning to refresh 
the air in the tent. They would not do that.  Yet an-
other problem: it was not allowed to cook near tents 
to prevent fire hazards. There was a special place for 
cooking. But some would not listen.  There were two 

By Professor Arianne Ishaya

“We Were So Cold 
And So Hungry That 

Whenever We Made A 
Fire, I Used To Take 

The Warm Rocks And 
Press Them On My 

Chest At Night”

This column commemorates the survivors of the WWI 
Assyrian genocide who came to America, worked hard, 
and made many contributions to their adopted country.

The family histories of the Assyrian old-timers were col-
lected by Arianne Ishaya, professor of anthropology, in 
Turlock in 1981-1982.
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kinds of water. One kind was pumped by machines 
from the Diyla River. That was reserved in tanks.  
It was treated water for drinking. But for washing, 
there was the river water. They would use water 
indiscriminately. The British were exasperated. I 
had to come up with excuses to pacify them.

One way to cut costs was to replace the British 
with the Assyrians. I became section supervisor. 
Only one British officer was left to oversee the 
whole area. They began to replace imported food 
with local food. They even tried to persuade us 
to grow some produce. But Baquba was a desert 
area and lacked sufficient water. 
So they did not succeed. People 
did not want to try hard either.  
So when World War I ended 
Kernel Owen asked me to in-
struct the people that the Brit-
ish could not care for us forever. 
Now it was time that we became 
self-sufficient. The British said 
they would take us to Mosul 
from where we could return 
to our own country. They said 
that they had made arrange-
ments with the Persian govern-
ment and the Turks would not 
pose a threat. Nevertheless they 
armed men like me to protect 
ourselves. We were to front the 
procession back to Urmi. The 
highlanders did not want to go to Iran, they want-
ed to return back to their own homes in the Hak-
kari Mountains. But at the time their homes were 
under Turkish possession and the Turks would 
not consent to their return. There was a British of-
ficer; his name was Gibson.  He thought he was re-
sponsible for them.  But they did not listen to him.  
They began to sell their ammunitions each acting 
individually.  Gibson became so desperate that he 
committed suicide and Aga Petros’ expedition to 
retake the Highlanders’ homes back from Turkey 
failed. 

In Mindan food was not good. Also men of fight-
ing age were separated from the rest.  When we 
were in Baquba the Arabs did not dare to attack 
us.  We had two battalions numbering 2000 armed 

men in Baquba. The men were trained by the Brit-
ish. But when the British moved us in groups to 
Mindan, those who were left behind came under 
Arab attack. I left Mindan and went to Baghdad. 
I worked for the British Civil Service as a store-
keeper for the supply center for 8 months before 
I got a visa for America. But my mother and sis-
ter stayed in Mindan. My brother was in the army; 
but he had almost starved and had fever. So he de-
serted and joined me in Baghdad. I had a khaloo 
(uncle) in Chicago; he sponsored me. The docu-
ments for sponsorship required a letter from the 
place of employment, one from the bank, and one 

from the church.  Before 
leaving Baghdad I went to 
Dr. McDowell, the Amer-
ican Missionary.  He gave 
me a letter to take to the 
president of the YMCA in 
Bombay, whose name was 
Dr. Monroe.  He would 
see to it that we got our 
tickets and send us on our 
way. We stayed 5-6 months 
in Bombay. There were a 
lot of Assyrians stranded 
there. Ocean liners were 
in short supply. The war 
had just ended and sol-
diers were given priority to 
travel back to their homes. 
When we left Bombay 

there were 23 Assyrians on board.  In Italy we were 
sent to the city of Trieste, on the Adriatic because 
overseas transportation was not available in Na-
ples. Other Assyrians arrived in the meantime. 
The numbers swelled to 83.  The Italians called 
us Persi. For breakfast, lunch, and dinner we were 
served macaroni and wine over and over. It was in 
our contract that the liner had to pay for our ex-
penses until we reached N.Y. In Naples they tried 
to avoid paying for our hotel. But I was instructed 
by Dr. Monroe of my rights and he told me to see 
the American Consul if they try to abrogate the 
terms of the contract. So they conceded.  From 
Trieste we came to New York. It took 23 days. The 
route was from the Adriatic to the Mediterranean 
Sea, to Gibraltar, to the Atlantic Ocean, and then 
to New York. 

“The British said they 
would take us to Mosul 

from where we could 
return to our own 

country. They said that 
they had made 

arrangements with the 
Persian government and 

the Turks would not 
pose a threat.” 

	 An exceptional event will take place from March 5 to 8: 
the first apostolic visit of a pope to Iraq, a nation ravaged by suc-
cessive wars and a country plagued by crises and attacks, whe-
re the destruction of radical Islamism has been monstrous in 
recent years, especially against Yazidis and Christians. Twenty 
years ago, John Paul II nearly went there, but had to give it up.
	 Francis will tread on a land of covenant, holy and 
highly symbolic, A land that is the birthplace of the patriarchal 
figure Abraham, spiritual father of believers, who came out of 
ancient Ur in Chaldea, located in the southern part of the count-
ry. Here, the Pope will visit and participate in an interfaith mee-
ting. For the record, we owe the discoveries in Chaldea to British 
and French archaeologists: Sir Leonard Woolley and François 
Thureau-Dangin.
	 Iraq is also one of the holy places of Shiite Islam, the 
center of which is in Najaf, 200 km south of Baghdad. There, the 
Pope will have an unprecedented meeting with Ayatollah al-Sis-
tani, the highest Shiite authority and highly respected figure in 
the country.
	 In four days, several trips are planned: Baghdad, Najaf, 
Ur, Arbel, Mosul and Qaraqosh. Contrary to popular belief, the 
Church in Iraq (formerly Mesopotamia) does not owe its existen-
ce to Latin missionaries at all. On the contrary, she is indigenous 
and apostolic, having played a leading role in the propagation 
of the Christian message in Asia, even in China, long before the 
arrival of Western missionaries. This was the epic journey of the 
“Nestorians”. We read in the Acts of the Apostles that “people of 
Mesopotamia” were among the witnesses of Pentecost. And when 
the public asked Jesus to show them a sign from heaven, he refer-
red to the people of Nineveh (present-day Mosul) who repented 
upon the message brought from God by the prophet Jonah.
	 Dating back to the time of the apostle Thomas, this 
branch of Iraqi Christianity came into being, so deep are its 
roots and so dense are its fields and domains of activity. Need 
we remember that Christians have greatly participated in west-
ern civilization, providing scholars and martyrs? Their history 
comes under various names: Assyrians, Syriacs, Orthodox and 
Catholics… Today, however, there is a drastic decrease in their 
influence and number. Christians are estimated to be around 
300,000 in Iraq currently, compared to more than 1 million befo-
re 2003! Clearly, there exists a parallel between the plight of the-
se Christians and the forced exodus of Iraqi Jews. The country 
was emptied, under duress and repression, of its Jewish popula-
tion after the creation of the State of Israel in 1948. Is it now the 
turn of the Christians?
	 Such a rich vestige of Christianity is threatened with 
gradual extinction. Brother Najeeb Michaeel, a Dominican 
Chaldean, known to have saved the manuscripts of Mosul (who 
became archbishop of this diocese in 2018), drew a parallel with 
the genocide of 1915. “In 1915, the Ottomans did exactly the same 
thing as ISIS,”  he declared to Le Figaro on December 26, 2016. 
We should therefore not be surprised if the exodus – on a massi-
ve scale - is the consequence of these persecutions. Today there 
are many more Iraqi Christians in the diaspora (in the United 
States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and Europe) than in 

their native land.
	 The Holy See has always taken a careful look at this 
battered Christendom and has shown solidarity in every way. 
Its diplomacy defends Eastern Christians, a major focus of its 
bilateral and multilateral action is to inform the international 
community and to urge the United States and other great po-
wers to protect them and preserve their presence there. In re-
turn, the Vatican is seen by these Christians as a supporting 
force that comforts them, helping them to feel that they are not 
abandoned. By meeting with Arab leaders and Muslim religi-
ous authorities, the Holy See is also working to improve their 
conditions, calling for reconciliation between peoples, and for 
Islamic-Christian dialogue.
	 Although Pope Francis continues along the line of his 
predecessors, he nevertheless brings something new. He was the 
first pope to recognize, in a homily on April 12, 2015, the geno-
cide that struck Syriac Catholics and Orthodox, Assyrians and 
Chaldeans, along with Armenians, in 1915.
	 Francis is particularly attached to the “venerable” Eas-
tern Churches and insists on making “their treasures known to 
the Western world”. Faced with the divisions that once weak-
ened the Church, the Pope goes so far as to admit the diversity 
of interpretations of the first councils, which are the origin of 
schisms. In this sense, he has strengthened ties with non-Cat-
holic Churches, including the Syriac Orthodox Church and the 
Assyrian Church, as well as the Coptic Church. In this way, new 
steps are taken on the path - albeit a long one - of full commu-
nion among Christians.
	 Regarding Islam, his speech at the International Peace 
Conference, at the influential institution of Sunni Islam, al-Az-
har (Cairo), on April 28, 2017, asked some substantive questions 
to promote dialogue between Islam and Christianity. In the same 
vein, the Pope signed in Abu Dhabi, along with Sheikh al-Azhar, 
Ahmed al-Tayeb, on February 4, 2019, a document on human 
brotherhood. But what will he say in Iraq? Faced with an Islam, 
this time predominantly Shiite, what will be his speech? Will the 
exchange with Ayatollah al-Sistani result in a statement like the 
one from Abu Dhabi? Christians do not want to be turned into 
vestiges, as has been the case in other countries. What will the 
Pope say to them and what will be his real power? Let’s hope that 
his visit can reinvigorate this eastern branch of Christianity and 
help guarantee Iraq’s Christians with a future and hope.

* Last published works: A threatened diversity. Eastern Christians in the 
Face of Arab Nationalism and Islam (Salvator, 2018) and The Syriac 
Middle East. The unknown face of Eastern Christians (Salvator, 2019)

Honorary professor of political science, at the Catholic University of Lyon, 
deciphers the stakes of a visit to a region where Christianity has had a 
major civilizational importance, but where its faithful are threatened.

By Joseph Yacoub*  Courtesy of Le Figaro 
France Credit: Fabien Clairefond  Date of publication: March 5, 2021
Translated from French by Elizabeth Mickaily-Huber, Ph.D.

Pope’s trip to Iraq: Hope for 
endangered Eastern Christians
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Mr. Aprim provides in his book, The Betrayal of the Powerless: Assyrians After 2003 US Invasion of Iraq, a lucid outline and 
analysis of the events after the fall of Saddam Hussein and the rise of the ambitious Kurdish power in the region inhabited 
by Iraq’s indigenous population of Assyrians. According to the Author, the American policy in Iraq after the two Gulf Wars 
brought no end to their marginalized political power. In fact, it unleashed other internal and external actors who further 
deteriorated their status as the oldest inhabitants of Mesopotamia. This is an essential reading in order to fully understand 
the condition of the Assyrians under Kurdish, Arab and Islamic rules and the challenges faced by Assyrians in Iraq, Syria and 
perhaps soon in Iran. Mr. Aprim, with this work introduces the reader to the historical and current reality told by a person 
who knows the socio-ethnic-cultural environment of the different ethnic groups of Mesopotamia and their neighbours. The 
concise description of the events reflects a deep knowledge on behalf of the author of the modern history of the Assyrians.

-   �Prof. Dr. Efrem Yildiz Vice-Rector for International Relations, University of Salamanca, Spain

Mr. Aprim’s previously published books are available for purchase through 
Amazon.com 

To order go to:
1. http://www.amazon.com and  type Frederick Aprim in the search bar.
2. ��www.xlibris.com/en/bookstore and type Frederick Aprim in the 

search bar.

The indigenous Assyrians, Yezidis and the other smaller groups in Iraq were jubilant 
listening to United States President Bush explain the objectives behind the 2003 war 
on Iraq, promising to end the oppressive regime of Saddam Hussein and securing 
freedom for all Iraqi people, regardless of their ethnicity or religious belief. It did not 
take long before the Assyrians began witnessing a genocide and yet another betrayal 
(the first was that promise made by of the British post World War I) when the US de-
serted the indigenous Assyrians and Yezidis and surrendered to the demands of the 
Shi’a Arabs and the Kurds. The continuous attacks on the Assyrian Christians in Iraq 
and bombing of churches started in 2004 and intensified through 2011. In 2014, ISIS 
invaded the Assyrian and Yezidi towns in northern Iraq (and in Syria) and caused a 
new tragedy and genocide while the Kurds and Shi’a strengthened their positions in 
the new Iraq.  
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LES ASSYRO-CHALDÉENS

Mémoires d’une tragédie 
qui se répète

Joseph Yacoub

Dans ce livre, l’auteur évoque un cas 
unique, la tragédie assyro-chaldéenne 
de 1915-1918. Entreprise infernale et 
préalablement pensée, décidée au plus 
haut niveau de l’État, ces massacres 
se déroulent sur une large étendue en 
Cilicie et Anatolie orientale, ainsi qu’en 
Azerbaïdjan persan, dans les mêmes 
conditions et pratiquement sur les 
mêmes lieux que ceux des Arméniens. 
Des convois de déportés ont tristement 
jalonné les routes de Mardin, Diarbékir, 
Kharpout, Cheikhan, Sévérek, Ourfa, 
Ras-ul-Aïn, Deir ez-Zor et Sinjar. Plus de 
250000 Assyro-Chaldéens trouvèrent la 
mort. Le drame des chrétiens de Syrie 
et d’Irak est toujours là pour rappeler le 
passé et raviver les mémoires. Le voyage 
du pape François en Irak en 2021 est venu 
réveiller les consciences.
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NOTEWORTHY BOOKS

In his new book Frederick Aprim offers a detailed survey of the plight suffered by the Assyrians of Iraq in the 21st century. It 
details how the American invasion in 2003 stirred up renewed hope for liberation, resettlement and even self-determination 
among this indigenous minority, only to be crushed once again as discrimination and the horrors unleashed by ISIS in 2014 
caused renewed waves of emigration. Today, fewer Assyrians than ever before in history remain in their ancestral areas. Ap-
rim’s work offers an important insider perspective to anyone who wishes to understand the current state and future outlook 
of the Assyrians in Iraq and the Middle East.

-   �Prof. Aryo Makko, Professor of History and Director of the Hans Blix Centre for the History of International Relations 
at Stockholm University, 2020

The Betrayal of the Powerless 
by Frederick Aprim
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Who was Alex Agase?
Alexander Arrasi Agase (March 27, 1922 – May 3, 2007) was an American football guard and linebacker 
who was named an All-American three times in college and played on three Cleveland Browns 
championship teams before becoming head 
football  coach at Northwestern University 
and  Purdue University.

College: Illinois; Purdue
Position: Guard, linebacker
Born: March 27, 1922; Chicago
Died: May 3, 2007, Tarpon Springs, FL
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In 2008, Gorgias Press published John (John-Pierre) Ameer ‘s memoir, 
Assyrians in Yonkers: Reminiscences of a Community, the story of an 
Assyrian community formed by refugees from Urmia after the Assyrian 
Genocide of WWI. The book includes a chapter entitled, “Flight,” which 
tells of the massacres (beginning in 1842/43), the subsequent evacuations, 
the relocation, resilience, and transformation of newly arrived Americans. 
Dr. Ameer reminisces about being raised in Yonkers, New York within the 
bicultural Assyrian and American community. 

As a first generation Assyrian American, John experienced 
the closeness of this community as it maintained its Assyrian 
churches, organizations, and traditions, while accepting those of its new-
found home. The sense of fraternity among these survivors also reveals 
their allegiance to the United States, the suburban neighborhood, and the 
education of the 
American-born generation. 

The following interview excerpts are from the Yonkers Public Library’s 
Assyrian Oral History Project, conducted by Ruth Kambar, PhD, Board 
Member of the Assyrian Studies Association and Michael Walsh, librarian 
at the Will Library.

John, is there any significance to your name, Jean-Pierre Ameer?
After my mother’s family fled, she and her sister were put in a school in Marseille 
where they spent ten years. Then she came to the United States in 1934, hence 
Jean-Pierre. I didn’t want to go through school with it so I changed it to John.

FAMILY

Do you have siblings?
They’re named Eleanor and Franklin because they were born on FDR’s 
birthday. The twins were born five years after me.

What were your parents’ full names?
My mother’s maiden name is Agnes Yaure and her sister is Nadine. My father 
is Eprim, and his father is Shleemon Ameer. Both of them were from the town 
in Urmia called Geo Tapa.

Did your parents have siblings?
My father had a sister, Catherine and my mother had a brother,
Roland and a sister, Nadine. Roland was the oldest, then my mother, Agnes, 
then her sister, Nadine. There probably would have been more children, but 
my grandfather, my father’s father, emigrated to the United States in 1910. 
When the war started, he couldn’t get back.

Do you know the names of your grandparents?
I can remember my grandfather on my mother’s side. His name
was Abraham Yaure. My father’s father was Shleemon.

CHURCH

Is your identity connected to a particular religion?
All Assyrians are connected to the Church of the East and in the 19th century 
many of them went in different directions. My mother’s family went to the 
Lutherans because of the work of the Lutheran missionaries. My father’s 
family went, like a lot of Assyrians, to Presbyterianism because of the American 
missions. There were also some Assyrians who became Roman Catholic be-
cause of Catholic missionary work. They began the 19th century, essentially, as 
a single religious group. There were a few dissidents, but that was it. It was by 
the end of the 19th century that Assyrians had gone in all kinds of directions.

...Assyrian missionaries— these Church of the East missi-
onaries ended up all the way over to Japan and they had a 
significant impact, especially in China. There’s a wonder-
ful book called The Monks of Kublai Khan because almost 
every one of his [Kublai Khan’s] advisors was a Nestorian 
cleric. The Mongol invasions broke all that up, but there are 
remnants of the Nestorian missionaries. Their remnants are 
among the Christians in India. They have a  different name 
now, but there were a number of churches that were establis-
hed by our people in India and, as I said, in China. There are 
some archaeologists that have unearthed tablets in Syriac in 
China. The Muslim Empire, the Abbasid Empire [Caliphate] 
that was centered in Baghdad, the Abbasids eventually sent 
an emissary to the Vatican and the emissary was a cleric of 
the Nestorian church, the Church of East. Another thing 
that Muslim empires, both the Umayyad and then later the 
Abbasid, were very very friendly to the Christian groups in 
the Middle East, like the Nestorians— like the Church of the 
East. And so, the Church of the East was very active in Bag-
hdad and was permitted to be active. There was a very close 
relationship between the Hamayat and Abbasid Caliphates 
and the Church of the East. The Mongol invasions pretty 
much ended it. One of the consequences is that our people 
fled North and that’s why they ended up in Northwest Persia 
in Urmia and in Kurdistan because they were fleeing the 
horrendous Mongol invasions. They were just very brutal. 
They not only brutalized the local Muslim populations, but 
they also brutalized the Christian population. That’s how we 
ended up where we were.

A BICULTURAL ASSYRIAN AMERICAN 
EXPERIENCE IN YONKERS

Where were you born?
In Yonkers, New York, 1936.

Where did you grow up in Yonkers?
I grew up in Yonkers until I went to college, so I was at P.S. 
19, Hawthorne Junior High School, and then Yonkers High 
School.  I grew up in South Yonkers, which is where most of 
the Assyrian community lived.  It could be called a colony in 
Yonkers. Very close. Very close.

Did your family go straight to Yonkers?
They arrived in Providence, Rhode Island, which was another 
immigrant receiving location. Besides Ellis Island, that was 
the other entry point, and they came to Yonkers because they 
already had relatives here. My grandfather was already here.

Do you know what drew Assyrians to Yonkers?
Yes, the manufacturing jobs. I’m just saying in the communities 
I was close to, the Assyrians formed these colonies. There 
was New Britain, Connecticut; Yonkers, New York; Elizabeth, 
New Jersey; and Philadelphia, and of course, the largest 
Assyrian community in the United States was Chicago. 
Turlock, California was another, more recent location. The 
recent Assyrians have focused in LA and in Arizona. In 
Turlock there’s at least one and there may be two Churches 
of the East in Arizona. There’s definitely one or two in LA.

Was Assyrian spoken in your childhood home?                     
Oh, yeah. Assyrian, sometimes called neo-Aramaic, but the 

most common designation is Syriac. We spoke it. I was fortu-
nate because my father’s grandmother [Repka Ameer] lived 
with us until 1944, and she spoke no English so I got to learn 
Syriac very well because I had to speak with her. 

What traditional practices did you have in your Assyrian- 
American household? 
There was a great deal of activity associated with our church, 
the Assyrian Presbyterian Church. There would be activities 
that would bring you to the church about three or four times 
a week, activities associated with the older group, associated 
with women associated with young people, and so forth. 
There are also, from time to time, activities in the Assyrian 
American Association. But interestingly enough, if you look 
back on that, most of the Assyrians who were Presbyterian 
were all members of the Assyrian American Association, 
but didn’t spend as much time there as those who were still 
members of the Church of the East [Mar Mari Parish]. I’m 
not sure why that’s the case, but that was the case. We were 
always together.

What’s your favorite Assyrian food, John?
Dolma.

Chalama, Durpee?  
Peppers and tomatoes. I can’t remember the name for pep-
pers and tomatoes [biebauri and baudumjioni]-  
I even make it. 

Do you make chada?
My wife, who’s Puerto Rican, has learned to make chada 
and my mother made some of the best chada I’ve ever had. 
Margarita [John’s wife] makes it as well as my mother. Only 
Assyrians have a taste for chada. It’s incredible.  To anybody 
else, they’ll say “What the heck is this?”

It’s great with tea.
Yes, exactly!

Do you think the Assyrians who came, that first generation, 
prepared foods differently than they would have in the old 
country? Do you know whether they lost any of that?
No. I don’t think they did because the foods were all Assyrian 
foods—I mean rarely with anything else. Bushala, and on 
and on.. You know that cookbook that Irene Baba, and who 
was the other person who put it together?

From Westchester, or the one from Chicago? 
No Westchester. The Assyrian cookbook.

I don’t know who did it, but I know Joe Eshoo did the cover.
He did and Irene was one of the two authors [the other is 
Susan Nweeia] . At any rate, that’s the same food they have in 
Urmia and in Kurdistan— as is true of all the ethnic groups 
that came to the United States.

In your memoir, you write about how you would go to the 
markets on Saturdays to purchase food, etc.  When I was a 
child, my mother would drive all the way from Yonkers to 
Atlantic Avenue in Brooklyn to get our spices and ingredi-
ents. Were you able to get them in Yonkers?
We couldn’t get any of the ingredients that you’re talking 

John Ameer ,1967 in Cheshire, Connecticut

John Ameer in His Office

Daniel Baba, Darius Baba, Jr., and John Ameer

Reminiscences of the 
Yonkers Community:
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about in Yonkers other than tomatoes and vegetables and stuff. To get all the 
ingredients that you were talking about, we had to go to Brooklyn. Original�-
ly, there was a group of Middle Eastern import shops. They were originally 
on the Hudson River in the eastern part of Manhattan, but with the const-
ruction of the 
highway and so forth, they got moved out and that’s when they went to 
Brooklyn. My understanding is that those stores still exist in Brooklyn. 

As you know I taught in Worcester and because Worcester has a large
Armenian community and a large Assyrian community, not the Church of 
the East, but Syrian Orthodox, there are three or four stores in Worcester 
where we can get whatever we need. 

The Syrian Orthodox were headquartered, essentially, in what is now 
Northern Iraq and Southern Turkey and of course they got driven out by the 
same genocide. While we were becoming the Church of the East, they were 
becoming a different segment, which is now called Syrian Orthodox and 
there is also a Catholic segment that was centered pretty much in Lebanon 
and in Western Syria. There are not too many of our people that belong to 
that group, but there are a few.

Tell us a little bit about Assyrian picnics. 
Well, you remember, we’d go mostly to Trevor Park in Yonkers, on the 
Hudson River. Unlike a lot of other people, when the Assyrians went to these 
picnics, they kept the same food they had in Urmia. The only thing they 
would add on the picnics was a lot of kebabs, but they would still have the 
dolma and they would still have all of that traditional food. There would be 
chada and so forth. 

Some of us would bring their samovars. 
Always. I owned one until I gave it to my daughter, but we had a samovar. I 
don’t remember any Assyrian house without a samovar. That came because 
of our connection with Russia. The Russian Orthodox were very interested 
in the Church of the East and the Syrian Orthodox. There was even, and I 
didn’t learn this until recently, in the late 19th century some thought about 
moving the entire Assyrian community, north to Russia because it would 
obviously be more comfortable for us to be with other Christians. 

The other reason was there were two Kurdish/Turkish genocides in the 19th 
century. The biggest one was in 1893-94, and so the Assyrians really thought 
that they had to get out of that area. The largest community was in Kurdistan 
and I don’t think they were part of the thought about moving north, but they 
were also suffering persecution. In fact, in that 1893-94-95, it is unclear as to 
which of those years, but anyway in those years the Turkish/Kurdish genocide 
was so powerful that most of the Assyrians in Kurdistan fled to Urmia and 
stayed in Urmia for a few months and went back to Kurdistan. That’s how 
vicious life was. What it was, and we know now because it’s still going on, 
is the Kurds wanted their own country and they didn’t want any minority 
groups in that country, so they were thinking of doing a cleansing prior to their 
getting a country. They still don’t have their country, but that’s why we suffer. 

Did you participate in any of the Assyrian dances and do you have parti-
cular music you like?
Yeah, but it’s not Assyrian. None of it’s Assyrian. It’s primarily Armenian, 
and yeah, we used to— of course. Every wedding we’d be dancing all the 
time. Assyrians had never developed their own music. They used Armenian 
music and Turkish music. That’s what we heard growing up. The music we 
heard, and you remember at the weddings, the band that was brought in was 
always an Armenian band.

Do you remember Jerry Caram?         
Yeah, of course. He lived a block away. So he played with two men. He 

played and sang with two men. I know one of them because 
he was a good friend of my father, but his name now eludes 
me. He was from Philadelphia. Jerry played an oud. Boy, he 
sometimes played an oud. The fellow I’m talking about, from 
Philadelphia, played the drum. What did they call it?  It loo-
ked like a tambourine, a big tambourine. What was it called? 
A dumbeg. The third fellow played a clarinet. 

How about Assyrian games, John? Did you play the game 
with lamb knuckle bones when you were a kid?
I remember my father and a few of his neighbors doing that 
but I never did. It didn’t last long, so it was gone by the time I 
was old enough to understand what was going on. I have my 
grandfather —the other game that a number of Assyrians 
played. What do you call it? It’s like checkers. Backgammon. 
My father— no one ever beat my father. He was incredible. I 
learned backgammon. I never beat him.

EDUCATION

Did you attend University?
I got a scholarship and went to Yale University.

What was the focus of your study?
Well, I was following in the family footsteps. I was going to 
be a minister. I majored in philosophy and political science. 
I was heading for seminary and I actually did go to seminary, 
but I didn’t finish. I stumbled into teaching, which I did until 
May— this past May.

When did you become interested in Assyrian academic 
studies or activities?
As long as I can remember because the Assyrian community 
in Yonkers talked a lot about their background. What they 
talked very little about, and it was only after I grew up that 
I began to investigate this, they talked very little about the 
Genocide of World War I. That was rarely a topic of 
conversation, but they talked a lot about what was going on 
in the villages and all of that happened before the war. The 
war was obviously incredibly traumatic, as it was for the 
Armenians. So we learned an awful lot about life in Urmia, 
up until World War I—up until 1917.

What did you teach?
I taught Social Studies for a few years. I also taught English; 
well my primary focus was Social Studies, especially history. 
I was also an administrator in the high schools.

Where did you teach?
I taught for a year at Yonkers High School, two years at 
Cheshire Academy in Connecticut, and two years in Saint 
Mark’s School in Dallas. Then, it was like sixteen years, from 
1969 to 1985 I was at the Harvard School in Los Angeles.

You’re also just retired from Clark [University] is that 
correct? Will you talk a little about what you did while you 
were there?
May 31st I retired. At Clark, I taught undergraduate classes. 
The main class I taught was Complexities of Urban Schooling. 
I also taught simultaneously, and actually, I still am teaching 
graduate courses for teachers at Worcester State University. 
My primary course there is Foundations of Education.

Do you know about your parents’ schooling?
My father had very little because it was interrupted by the 
war. There were, in all of the villages in Urmia ,schools that 
the American missionaries had set up in the 19th century, so 
he had some basic schooling. My mother’s, obviously, was 
disrupted because the family, during World War I, fled first 
to Tiflis [Tbilisi] in Russia, and then she went to France— as 
I said— for ten years, and while she was at a boarding home 
there, a Lutheran boarding home, she attended the local 
French public school.

Do you know anything about the education of your grand-
parents?
They also had access to the same. On my father’s side, they 
had access to those same village schools. On my mother’s 
side, her father and his brother, because of the Lutheran 
missionaries, ended up getting university schooling in 
Germany. My grandfather majored in business in the schools 
there. His brother Lazar ended up in seminary and became a 
Lutheran minister

ASSYRIAN AMERICAN DIASPORA

What does it mean to you to be Assyrian?
It was incredible. I would not have wanted to be in any other 
kind of community. The closeness of the community was just 
wonderful. The mutual support—all of that. It was very very 
tight-knit, but in a positive sense; it wasn’t exclusionary, but 
it was tight-knit. It was just a wonderful, supportive kind of 
community.

To what do you attribute that?
Mostly the two things actually— one is that’s the way they 
lived in Urmia and two: the Genocide, of course, made them 
even closer because we’re talking about survivors.

How do you think living in the Assyrian Diaspora impacts 
you in any way?
Having grown up in the diaspora enabled us to be bicultural, 
and I think that’s a great asset. To a lot of people that also 
meant bilingual, but mostly bicultural. Those of us, who 
in my generation, and maybe yours, I don’t know, but my 
generation is able to see ourselves both as Americans and as 
Assyrians. I think that is a great asset to have that bicultural 
experience.

Can you describe the flight from Urmia in WWI?
There were two directions that the people fled: One was, as 
I said, the smaller one that went north to Tbilisi;  the larger 
one, the great migration, and the sad migration, was the one 
that went south. They went south, heading toward the British 
lines, which were around modern Baghdad. An awful lot of 
Assyrians died on that flight, southward. In fact, I mentioned 
—I don’t remember if it was in my book or in an article— I 
wrote about an Assyrian mother—just as an example of 
who crossed a river and couldn’t get back to rescue her child 
who was on the other side— on the other bank. She couldn’t 
make it. There was just an awful lot of that. People specu-
late on the numbers and there’s just not enough evidence 
to be clear on the numbers, but I would think that at least 
twenty-five percent of those who fled southward didn’t make 

Yonkers Assyrian Presbyterian Church Choir, 1953: 
(from left to right) Nanci Badel, Mary Soleiman, 

Irene Baba, Sue Nweeia and Daniel Baba, Norman 
David, John Ameer and Darius Baba Jr.

6/2/2021 Yonkers Assyrian Presbyterian Church Choir, 1953: (from left to right) Nanci Badel, Mary Soleiman, Irene Baba, Sue Nweeia and Daniel B…
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Before the Yonkers Assyrian community had its 
own church, the Assyrian Presbyterian Church 
congregation held services on Jackson Street at 

the Hungarian Church
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it. They got to the British lines and, as you know, the British set up a camp at 
Baqubah, east of Baghdad for the Assyrian refugees.

Following the war—the end of the war—there were some Assyrians and 
most of these Assyrians wanted to go back, but the British who, in typical 
colonial imperialist fashion, didn’t want us to go back because they wanted 
to establish positive relations with the Iranian government. They thought 
our going back would interfere with that. Some Assyrians did eventually get 
back, but the British did something really kind of ridiculous, when you think 
about it. Your family may have been involved in this. My father’s family was 
sent to eastern India. They were shipped to eastern India where they stayed 
for about six months and then they were free to go back and most of them 
ended up in France and Marseille and then from there to the United States. 
A few stayed in Europe. I have some relatives on my mother’s side who ended 
up staying in Germany, but most of the Assyrians then came to the United 
States and Canada. 

Did you ever have a desire to visit or have you visited Urmia?
I would have loved to have gone to Urmia, but because the United States’ 
policy toward Iran has been utterly destructive, useless and ridiculous that 
has not been possible. As you know, the United States in 1953 destroyed 
democracy in Iran and led to the coming of Khomeini, at which point there 
was no chance of ever going back. There were a number of Assyrians that 
went back when the Shah was ruling; there was some big celebration of the 
history of Iran in —what used to be Isfahan. But no, I didn’t get to do that. 
I’ve never been. I would have loved to have gone back to Urmia. 

What do you know about the Assyrian Question, the concept of an 
Assyrian homeland?
It’s not possible. The Assyrians that are still in the Middle East are aware, 
I’m sure, they’re aware that their only survival lies in coming to the west and 
that’s been true since 1917...I understand it’s a sad case for us, so it’s both a 
sad case— the origins are sad—but the lives we’ve had in this country are 
positive.

What traits do you think you’ve inherited from your family and your 
Assyrian American upbringing?
That’s a tough question. My family were, because of their rescue, very
patriotic about the United States. That’s something I inherited, but I’ve had 
a tough time with it recently. The other trait is the especially important 
one: the sense of community. See, we grew up with this wonderful sense of 
community and that I think we’ve gone away from. We’ve taken that with us 
wherever we’ve gone because that Assyrian community, as you know, was 
wonderful...wonderful. 

John, is there anything we did not ask you that you would like to say today?
I wish that many, many more of your generation and the generation after 
yours had a knowledge of the Assyrian history, the history of the Church 
of the East, including the wonderful contributions we made to the Abbasid 
Caliphate. The Church’s moving completely across Asia and having a sig-
nificant impact on several civilizations. I’m astonished how few Assyrians of 
your generation, and the one after yours, have all of that wonderful, wonder-
ful history. It’s just an amazing, exciting kind of history. Go beyond the stori-
es. Go back to the second or third century AD and from then on the Church 
of the East was an incredibly powerful institution with remarkable influence 
and achievements. I just don’t find many Assyrians of even my generation 
that are aware of that. It may be that the Genocide overwhelmed all other 
memories that might be part of it.

Daniel Baba, Norman David, John Ameer, 
and Darius Baba, Jr.

John Ameer & Monument to Fidelia Fiske 
at Shelbourne, MA (1)

John Ameer, proud of his alma mater, Yonkers 
High School

*The amounts listed are charitable donations only and exclude subscription fees and membership dues.

List of Assyrian Foundation of America Donors 
The below list includes donations received from 03/01/2021 through 05/31/2021 only! Any 

donations received after 05/31/2021 will be included in the next issue of the Nineveh Magazine.

Thank you for your generosity and support.
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 (In Memory of Mary Oraha) 
 Solomon Solomon 	  $ 40.00 
 Stella Charbakshi 	  $ 1,500.00  
 (In Memory of Edward Mosshabad) 	
 
 Tony Khoshaba 	  $ 100.00 
 Victoria Abbasi 	  $ 50.00 
 (In Memory of Joseph Abbasi) 
 Willam Ramsini 	  $ 400.00 
 William & Marianne Miner 	  $ 500.00 
 William &Kathleen Suleiman 	  $ 205.00 
 Wisconsin Historical Society 	  $ 40.00 
 Yulius Petros 	  $ 40.00 
 Yulius Petros 	  $ 40.00

DONOR 	 AMOUNT DONOR 	 AMOUNT

28 29



Aunt Jane passed away on March 19, 2021 to join her parents, Aghasi and Judith, as well as her husband, 
George, and her five brothers, Charles, Albert, Hubert, Joel, and Penoel, in eternity. 

She is survived by her sister, Anita Sibthorpe, her son, Ben Polus, her daughter, Bernadette Baba, in addi-
tion to six grandchildren, five great grandchildren, and several nephews and nieces.

We will cherish your loving memories, forever..!
				  
					     Furat & Nahrain Babilla, 

Jane (Polus) Babilla was born on December 1, 1929 
in Habaniya, Iraq to Aghasi and Judith Babilla. 

Charmaine relocated to Turlock, California when she was seven years old. Her 
father and mother were well known and respected as one of the first Assyrian 
families to immigrate to the United States. At the age of 13, Charmaine tragically 
lost her father and immediately felt the responsibility to step in as the leader 
of her family.  Even though she was too young to legally work, she found a way 
to receive employment at a local cannery. She used her money to support her 
mother and take care of her household.  She kept this mindset throughout her 
life and always made sure her family was taken care of. 

On June 11, 1983 she married the love of her life, Hubert Daniel and had their 
first daughter on November 29th 1984 followed by her youngest daughter Jina on 
January 15. On February 1st, 2021 Charmaine passed into Glory, and is now in the 
presence of her Lord, her best friend, Jesus. The fight to keep Charmaine here 

In Memory of 
Charmaine Morad-Daniel Charmaine Morad-Daniel 

was a fight between Heaven and Earth. Charmaine fought a good fight, finished her race, kept her faith, and is now 
embracing her exceedingly great reward in Heaven. 

She served as a member of the Assyrian National Council of Stanislaus, which included 16 Assyrian organizations 
and churches, until she was elected and served as President over the past three years. She gladly sacrificed much 
of what she had and her life, for her Assyrian people and nation. She was always ready and willing, with a big and 
generous heart, coupled always with a smile, to reach any one who was in need of her Assyrian people, churches, or 
those who were working for our Umta’s purpose. She always worked tirelessly trying to bring all to love each other, 
and to unite with each other as Assyrians.

Under her leadership, she enabled her widespread network to benefit Assyrians. She used her government connec-
tions to bring recognition and acknowledgment to our people, such as the California State Capital acknowledging 
Assyrian New Year in 2019.  She connected Assyrians to government leaders from local mayors to members of 
congress and teamed up with Operation Compassion to deliver groceries to Assyrians in need during the pandemic. 
Additionally, she was working with the Stanislaus County School district to build Assyrian Language classes to 
strengthen our chances of keeping our language alive.

She continually used her role to benefit Assyrians in a variety of ways including helping ill Assyrians get the care 
they need, solving complicated immigration issues, providing assistance to those in need, and identifying avenues 
of legal counsel.  She made her large network work for the good of Assyrians. Charmaine was voted Women of the 
Year by the Assyrian National Federation in 2004. 

In addition to balancing a family, serving the community, and becoming a pillar of wisdom and strength for Assy-
rians, she also had an amazing career. She was a well-respected leader for the Stanislaus County Sheriff’s Depart-
ment. Her professionalism was second to none and she reached the high rank of Supervisor of Records. Charmaine 
was extremely articulate and her words would captivate, grow, and encourage you. She used her position and rank 
to connect with various government leaders. Charmaine would frequently visit the state and national capital buil-
dings to connect with members of congress and the US Senate.

Over her 35+ years at the Stanislaus Count Sherriff’s dept, she impacted many lives as a friend, mentor, leader, and 
motivator. She led by example and taught her employees how doing the right thing will take you far in life. Char-
maine’s dedication was recognized in the numerous letters of gratitude the Sheriff’s Office received from the public 
due to Charmaine’s genuine compassion for others. She also received many awards and accommodations during her 
career in recognition for her hard work, excellent service, and dedication to the Stanislaus County Sheriff’s Depart-
ment.  Charmaine was instrumental in ensuring Stanislaus County was properly represented with the California 
Department of Justice and California State Law Enforcement. 

Charmaine was known at the Sheriff’s department as someone who could complete impossible tasks. Her strong 
will, commitment, and intelligence set her apart and built the strong reputation she holds today. When her Assistant 
Sheriff retired, he honored her by giving her the stars he wore which represented the high office. He wanted her to 
know that because of the impact she made, she deserved them more than anyone else. 

Even after her formal retirement, she never stopped working. She served on the Board of Directors for Community 
Health Centers of America over the past 4 years and was set to take on the role of Chief Lesion Officer in April. 

She was one of a kind; Charmaine will be remembered for her solid faith, kind and giving heart, 

In Memory of 
Jane (Polus) Babilla Jane (Polus) Babilla 
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As a young lady she attended the famous Kasha Khando, an all Assyrian, boys and girl’s primary 
school. In 1946, she married Aprim Yonan and moved to Habanniya, Iraq where many Assyrians 
resided at the time. They had 4 children: Jermaine, Janet, Hamlet, and Albert. In 1958, the family mo-
ved back to Baghdad in the Tel-Mohammad area, close to the Assyrian Athletic club, where many 
Assyrians also resided. In 1967, the family immigrated to the United States and lived in the Bay Area.
	
Juliet was an excellent seamstress and made clothes for herself, her children, and for her grand-
children. She began working various jobs in order to assist her husband in supporting the family.
	
She helped her older brother, Alfred (now deceased), to immigrate from Tehran, Iran  to the United 
States, to live close to her. Later, her older sister, Marcel (now deceased), her husband Sargis, and 
their two boys, Douglas and Johnson (married to Hadeel), immigrated from Baghdad to The Nether-
lands.
	
Juliet’s husband Aprim passed away in January 1982, a tragic and untimely loss to her and the whole 
family as she was a widowed at the young age of 51. She has now joined Aprim. It is certain that they 
are both looking down from a much better place, free of pain and in the presence of our Lord.
	
Juliet is survived by her grandchildren, Atur and Nineveh Shabbas, David and Jennifer Yonan, as 
well as Albert and Jonnie’s adopted daughter Nicole. She is also leaving behind great grandchildren 
Amarissa and Matthew Shabbas, Remington and Augustine Yonan.

In Memory of 
Juliet Matti Yonan   Juliet Matti Yonan   
1930-2021

Juliet Matti Yonan was born November 29, 1930 in 
Baghdad, Iraq to her proud parents, Matti Yonan and 
Nelly Amirkhas. Her parents had three children: Alfred, 
Marcel, and Juliet. 
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 ܚܒܼܝܼܫ̈ܬܐ:

 

ܐ ܐܵܬܘܲܪ̈ܝܹܐ ܠܦܹܹ̈ ܒܼܥܝܼ ܐܼܲ 50.................................................ܫܼܲ  

ܡ ܣܵܪܘܲܝܵܐܢ ܕ: ܘܸܠܝܼܲ  ܒܝܼܲ
ܡܠܝܼܚܵܐ ܫܸܡܥܘܲܢ؛ ܫܝܼܟܵܓܘܲ  ܝܠܸܣ ܝܼܲ ܕ: ܒܼܲ ܡܬܵܵ ܡܼܢ ܠܹܫܵܢܵܐ ܐܸܢܓܠܝܼܣܵܝܵܐ، ܒܝܼܲ  ܓܕܝܼܡܬܵܵ ܘܬܘܼܪܓ ܸ

 

ܪܕܐܹܝܠ ܢ ܢܘܼܣܼܲ ܪܕܹܐ ܝܼܲ 43.............................................ܡܘܼܣܼܲ  

ܕ: ܝܵܘܣܸܦ ܒܹܝܬ ܝܵܘܣܹܦ  ܒܝܼܲ

 

41..................................................ܦܝܼܪܵܡܘܼܣ ܘܬܼܝܼܣܒܝܼ   

ܕ: ܐܘܲܒܼܝܼܕ  ܒܝܼܲ
ܢܘܲܐܹܝܠ ܣܘܲܠܘܲܡܘܲܢ ܡܼܲ ܕ: ܥܼܲ ܥܒܼܪܵܢܘܼܬܵܵ ܚܹܐܪܬܵܵ ܡܼܢ ܠܹܫܵܢܵܐ ܐܸܢܓܠܝܼܫܵܝܵܐ ܘܠܹܫܵܢܵܐ ܝܵܘܢܵܝܵܐ، ܒܝܼܲ  ܡܼܲ

 
 

ܠܚܘܼ )ܢܘܡܪܘܕ(  Kalkhu (Nimrud) ܟܼܲ
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